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The First Unitarian Church is located on the southeast corner of Fourth and York 
Streets just south of downtown Louisville. It is only a block south of Broadway, 
the main upper-class residential street of the city in the mid-19th century, and 
faces onto Fourth Street, which with Third Street was the major north-south 
thoroughfare of the city and of the Old Louisville Residential District (listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places on February 2, 1975). In 1876, shortly after 
the present church building was erected, its outline appeared on the Atlas of the 
City of Louisville (Map 2). At that time, the half-completed Calvary Episcopal 
Church (approved for the National Register at the State level on December 4, 1973) 
was a few lots south; the First Presbyterian Church was a block north; Temple 
Adas Israel was three blocks away on Broadway; the most fashionable public school, 
the Fifth Ward (Monserrat) School, later and until recently the Museum of Natural 
History (approved at the State level on October 21, 1975), was a block west. Since 
then, the Main Branch of the Louisville Public Library has been located across the 
street from the church to the north; Temple Adath Csic] Israel has moved to the same 
block, which also includes the Presentation Academy and the main buildings of Spalding 
College. Other churches and institutions are or have been located in the immediate area 
in the century during which the Unitarian Church has remained downtown and near the 
city's business as well as religious and cultural center.

Although tfye qhurcji is, locate^ on,a .fairly re.strjfftedclot, the grounds of the library to 
the north provide a somewhat parklike setting and enough perspective to allow appre­ 
ciation of the picturesque composition of the church's facade and asymmetrically-placed 
tower. Just to the south of the church is a handsome late 19th-century fltalianate lime­ 
stone-faced townhousej that still provides a valuable clue to the scale, material,-and 
style of the original residential surroundings of the church (in contrast, Calvary Church 
just beyond isjBow;fl.anked on both sides by parking lots). There is also, an earlier 
19th-century residence converted to other uses east of the church across an alley (see 
photo 2).

The best description of the church as it was first built in 1869-71, and presumably as 
it was rebuilt immediate^ after the fire of December 31, 1871, appeared in the 
Louisville Courier-Journal on January 16, 1871, on the occasion of the dedication of 
the first church:

The building... is one of the neatest and most convenient church 
edifices in the city.

In style the building is Gothic and early English. It is something 
entirely new in the West and does credit to the architect^ Mr. H* P. 
Bradshaw. The lot upon which it is situated is ninety-five feet
front by two hundred feet deep, and is surrounded with an elegant
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The First Unitarian Church of Louisville (known as the Church of the Messiah for approxi­ 
mately fifty years after the acquisition of the assets of the former Universalist Church made 
possible the construction of the present building) has a long history of religious, intellectual, 
and social-humanitarian contribution to the community. Among several outstanding ministers 
during the 19th-century was James Freeman Clarke, step-grandson and in many ways the 
inheritor of James Freeman, one of the founders of the Unitarian movement in America; 
and himself a leading spokesman for Transcendentalism. Education   both religious and 
secular, including pioneering efforts on behalf of women and blacks   was a keynote of 
the civic concerns of the Reverend John Healy Heywood, Clarke's successor, whose tenure 
from 1840 to 1880 was highlighted by the erection of the limestone Gothic Revival edifice that 
remains a landmark of downtown Louisville.

The original First Unitarian Church in Louisville was erected in 1831 on the southeast 
corner of Fifth and Walnut (see photo id/'thfe only knbwh cbntem^tfrary render^inf bf the 
building). According to the 1832 Directory it was a long rectangular meeting house:

- "f   " ».- . - ,..-. ..---.
The front of this handsome specimen of the art of building, presents 
the style of the1 Grecian Doric with four columns supporting a pediment 
frieze and entablature.. ..This building is receiving a coat of marbled 
stucco, 'whl'eh-promises to place it in taste and beauty beyond any build- ;r 
ing in the city.

The Greek temple form was characteristic of American housesof worship in the 1830s: 
even Christian religious institutions partook of the general fervor for Greek forms, and 
they seemed especially suited for the Unitarians, with their ideal of open-mindedness. 
When the more self-consciously ecclesiastical Gothic Revival style was not preferred (as 
it was generally in Louisville as elsewhere after the 1830s), it was natural to resort to 
the Greek model. Only one of these early 19th-century classical churches has survived: 
the simple Grecian structure at College Street east of 2nd designed by John Stirewalt.

After the Civil War, however, churches of all denominations tended to abandon the classical 
style for variations of the Gothic   the Italianate or Renaissance modes apparently seemed 
too frivolous for religious structures, and perhaps the Gothic had lost some of its earlier 
Popish overtones. The new Unitarian church at 4th and York Streets (then called the Church

(continued)
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stone and iron fence. The outer walls of the entire building 
are constructed of stone from the quarries at Beard's Station, 
except the dressed portions, which are of White river lime­ 
stone. The roofs of the building are covered with slate, the 
spire also being covered with the same material. The cor­ 
nices and other ornamentations are of galvanized iron.

The arrangements of the plans comprise a main audience 
room 95 feet deep by 48 feet in width, with transepts on each 
side 27 feet by 12 feet, the north transept being occupied by 
the organ and the choir. The roof is what is known as open 
timbered, the whole of the framework supporting trusses, etc., 
being dressed and forming the ceiling of the church. The height 
of the walls in the audience room is 23 feet and the height to the 
apex of the ceiling is 60 feet. The audience room contains 116 
pews, and will afford comfortable accomodation for 700 people. 
The principal entrance is from Fourth street through a spacious 
vestibule.

There is also an entrance from York Street through the tower, 
as also two entrances from a cross hall in the rear building. 
The tower and spire are located on the north or York-street 
side of the building, immediately in front of the transept, and 
is 18 feet square at the base and 145 high to the top of the 
spire. In the rear of the main church is located a two-story 
building, corresponding in style of architecture to the church 
proper, containing on the first floor a Sunday-school or lec­ 
ture-room. .. and also rooms for the pastor's study and Sun­ 
day-school library. The second story is occupied by the 
ladies' parlors and Bible-class rooms. The wood work of the 
entire interior has been constructed principally of black walnut 
and ash including pews, pulpit, etc. The pews in the main 
audience room are all handsomely upholstered, and those in the 
rear building are all made with reversible backs for the more 
convenient use of the Sunday-school.

The cost, including $11,000 for the lot, was $75,000 in all.

(continued)
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The stylistic designation of the church is discussed in 8., along with what little 
information is now known about the architect. The 1871 description, howevei; can 
still be effectively used as an outline of the present condition of the church. The 
"elegant stone and iron fence" is still intact, somewhat deteriorated but a rare sur­ 
vival in Louisville and elsewhere (many of the mid-19th-century walls and fences in 
the city were removed when Third Street was closed to herdsmen in the late 19th 
century, and of course many others were utilized during the World Wars as scrap 
metal). The fence around the church provides a sense of enclosure to the precinct, 
while separating it slightly from the street traffic (photos 1-3,5).

Except for a sympathetic addition of a half-timbered and stuccoed second-story over 
the original Sunday school rooms at the east end of the church, the exterior is virtu­ 
ally unchanged (photos 4-5). The fine local limestone used in the construction of the 
walls becomes increasingly golden in tone with age and has weathered exceptionally 
well. The roof has suffered most from time and the elements, but most of the slates 
remain on the distinctive spire, which tapers from a four-sided to an octagonal fig­ 
ure above the base, with tall narrow dormers on each of the four main faces (photos 
1-2). Below the spire the tower has three stages, with three-tier buttresses at the 
corners. A well-proportioned entrance faces north in the base, with a slanted shelf 
above serving also as the sill of two very tall lancets (photo 3). Above these on each 
face are triple windows, the highest in the middle. Flat machicolations provide a 
cornice below the spire.

Although actually almost flat, the west facade of the church is divided into three sec­ 
tions, with the much wider central unit defined by three-tier buttresses that die 
into the wall just before reaching the steep sides of the gable that fronts the actual 
roof of the sanctuary (photo2). The main entrance, approached by shallow stone 
steps, consists of two large pointed arches side-by-side and sharing a common 
cluster of colonnettes between. Above them is another shelf on which rest three 
narrow but larger windows. Below the cross at the peak of the gable is a curved- 
triangular opening. The center sectionis flanked by single lancets and the corners of 
the facade are defined by diagonal double-tier buttress. The five bays of the south 
side and the four of the north side (the tower takes the fifth) are separated by two-tier 
buttresses; each bay has a pair of lancets. The ends of the transepts are only slightly 
diminished versions of the west facade, with tall paired lancets and a curved-triangular 
window above them fitted into a generous blind arch. Most of the east end of the church 
proper was originally and has been been still further submerged in the Sunday school

(continued)
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rooms and offices, but they too have stone walls with pointed-arch openings.

The details of the church are consistently bold and crisp rather than dainty. The gables 
are framed only by flat bands of stone. There are labels only over the tops of the 
windows , although the front doors do have full-length colonnettes . At crucial points 
use is made of diamond -shaped blocks of stone with vermiculated ("wormy" or worm- 
eaten) texture. The west windows have a curious proto-Art Nouveau stone tracery. 
Otherwise, the architect has relied for effect mainly on compositional outlines, the 
silhouette of the tower, and the quality of the masonry.

The interior of the sanctuary remained virtually as it was originally until the renova­ 
tion undertaken by the firm of Jasper Ward Associates during the Centennial celebra­ 
tions of 1970, which respected most of the structural features. A photograph of the 
east end of the auditorium prior to the alterations shows only the fittings of the altar- 
niche as no longer present (photos 6-7). Handsome angular brass light-fixtures are 
suspended from the pendants of the trusses. The ceiling between the splendid timber 
trusses is still dark-stained tongue -in -groove boards. As described in 1871, the 
auditorium is essentially a rectangle, with shallow transepts at the east end. These 
transepts do not detract from the feeling of a meeting-hall rather than a Latin-cross- 
shaped liturgical plan; the organ and choir originally occupied the north transept, and 
the south transept originally, according to tradition, contained the free (and therefore 
in a social sense nonexistent) pews. The east wall is flat except for a shallow arched 
niche in the center with a steep-sided ribbed vatklt on slender colonnettes like those 
of the main entrance. The impressive roof -trusses rest on corbels with similar 
foliate supports.

The 1970 modernization involved mainly the positioning of the new Steiner tracker 
organ in the niche of the east wall, and the rearrangement of some of the pews to 
allow more flexible use of the space, including dramatic performances on a platform 
that extends the altar area out toward the congregation (or audience). The handsome 
stained-glass windows provide the chief adornment of the interior, although only a 
pair of the earliest type survives in the south transept (photo 8).

In what might have been the apse of a Catholic -oriented church is the original Sunday 
School meeting room, behind the altar- niche and transverse hall, although not quite 
aligned on the axis of the sanctuary (photo 4). This meeting room, still used for 
forums prior to the regular Sunday services, has a half -octagonal east end and slender 
cast iron clustered colonnettes supporting the room above (photo 9). The new features 
of the educational wing are in keeping with the old.
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of the Messiah) was one of the first of the "low" sects to espouse the new trend. This 
was in keeping with the Unitarian position. As Paul Sawyer puts it, "A chief charac­ 
teristic of our religious movement, manifested in our worship, our theology, and our 
life as a church community, is a constant tension between the two poles of the wholly 
new and the traditional." (Scholefield, p. 22.)

The new church was built in 1869-70, and dedicated in January 1871. On that occasion
the Courier-Journal described it thus: "The building... is one of the neatest and most
convenient church edifices in the city,... In style the building is Gothic and early English.
It is something entirely new in the West and does credit to the architect, Mr. H.P. Bradshaw."

Although the design of the church is obviously Gothic and "Early English" usually 
meant in the mid-19th century the "Lancet" style to which the church conforms, it is 
difficult in retrospect to determine what was "entirely new" about Brads haw's design. 
Perhaps its novelty lay in three main respects: (1) the exterior was completely of stone, 
up to the roof, using the fine golden local limestone, rather than of brick or wood stuccoed 
over as were many of the ante-bellum examples; (2) the model was ultimately English 
parish churches, rather than cathedrals or Continental churches reduced in size and work­ 
manship. This is perhaps best signified by (3) the placement of the tower, with its subtly 
tapered spire, to one side of the nave, rather than centered on the entrance front, like 
earlier Gothic churches in Louisville and Lexington (see the National Register domination 
for Christ Church Episcopal, Lexington, submitted for State approval March 9, 1976). 
This deliberately informal treatment of the tower, with the lower transept clinging to it, 
creates a constantly changing perspective, particularly appropriate on a corner site. Thus, 
the Unitarians moved a step toward the traditional Victorian style for churches, while 
injecting a new element of asymmetry and a certain modesty of association suited to an 
unpretentious intellectual emphasis.

The interior layout also reflects these characteristics. Although the usual medieval 
liturgical combination of nave, transept, and even chancel is present, as one might 
expect from the exterior massing, the first impression of the interior is almost of 
the typical New England meeting house (in which Unitarianism got its start): the "tran­ 
septs" originally held an organ to the north and it is said, "open" pews for Negroes 
to the south   obviously invisible. The "chancel" too was only a token, a shallow arch. 
The timber roof is not very prominent, and the total effect, in spite of stained glass, is 
light and open: exactly as intended to represent the lucidity and tolerance of reasonable 
religion.

(continued)
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The original church actually burned shortly after completion, but was promptly rebuilt, 
in 1872, on the plan of the first. The architect, H.P. Bradshaw, appeared regularly 
in Louisville city directories in the third quarter of the 19th-century, and several of 
the leading architects of the next generation passed through his office. Few works have 
yet been definitely attributed to him. These include the impressive St. Louis Bertrand 
Roman Catholic Church on South 6th Street in Louisville (1871; see the National Register 
Nomination Form approved at the State level on October 21,1975>for another work 
by Bradshaw). St. Louis has a number of resemblances to the Church of the Messiah, 
particularly in the handling of the limestone, although it is considerably larger and has 
a far more elaborate interior, as was considered appropriate for a Catholic church. 
Also by Bradshaw is St. -'John's Evangelical Church on East Market Street in Louisville 
(1866), a brick edifice with central west tower (never completed) and larger ogival-arched 
windows; the interior combines elements of both the Church of the Messiah and St. Louis 
Bertrand. It has been suggested that Charles Julian Clarke, one of the best-known 
architects in the Louisville area in the last quarter of the 19th century and a specialist 
in Gothic church design, may have been working in Bradshaw's office after the Civil War 
and may well have had a hand in these designs. As none of Clarke's known large-scale 
religious works of the 1870s has survived, it is difficult to confirm the hypothesis.

The interior has recently been altered by Jasper Ward Associates further to increase 
its flexibility and openness for services, but the original character has been respected.

History

A small Unitarian Society had begun meeting informally in Louisville in July 1830. By 1832 
they had built "a neat, well-proportioned church, The "Society had been organized by a few 
earnest Unitarians, mostly from New England. Services had been held for several 
years in different places, generally (and prophetically} in the schoolhouse of Mr. Francis 
E. Goddard, a man of attainments and an able teacher.

"John Pierpoint, Bernard Whitman and Charles Briggs were among the preachers who, 
in short visits to Louisville, had interested the worshippers. The church had been dedi­ 
cated on the 27th of May, 1832. On that occasion Dr. Francis Parkman ghe eminent 
historian) and James Walker   (leader of the more liberal Unitarians as a young man 
in the 1820s, author, editor of The Christian Examiner 1831-39, and] afterwards president 
of Harvard College   took part in the services." (E.E. Hale, in his biography of James

Freeman Clarke, quoted in Johnston, Memorial History, I, 252.)
(continued)
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The first pastor, the Reverend Mr. George Chapman of Massachusettes, preached his 
first sermon on June 24, 1832, in the new church. In spite of his success as pastor, 
he was forced by ill health to resign after only a year in Louisville (at an annual salary 
of $600).

Chapman was succeeded by the Reverend James Freeman Clarke (1810-1888),who became 
pastor in August 1833 and remained for seven years   years eventful and stimulating 
not only to the budding church but also to the city as a whole. In the words of the 1896 
chronicles, "Clarke was recognized and honored as a clear, vigorous, independent 
thinker by thoughtful men and women" prominent in the community. His "intellectual 
power, his compact, logical reasonings, his fine large scholarship, and his rare 
catholicity of spirit, were equally recognized by men of other communions... Jt was not only 
as a preacher that Mr. Clarke's influence was felt. He was a public-spirited citizen, 
deeply interested in whatever affected the welfare of the community. He devoted much 
time to the public schools of the city and, in 1839, was chosen by the City Council 
T agent s,,! that is, secretary and superintendent." (Johnston, Memorial History, I, 252.)

Clarke, who had been graduated from Harvard College in 1829 and from the Harvard 
Divinity School in 1833, was ordained in Boston just before coming to Louisville for his 
first pastorate. Utilizing his Harvard and Boston connections, Clarke soon became not 
only a contributor, but editor from 1836 to 1839 of The Western Messenger, a monthly 
periodical published first in Cincinnati and then transferred to Louisville. Under Clarke's 
aegis the magazine published works by such notable authors as his friends William Ellery 
Channing, Ralph Waldo Emerson, and Margaret Fuller.

In 1840 Clarke returned to Boston and founded a new Unitarian Church, The Church of the 
Disciples, and went on to become one of the most distinguished men of his day, active 
in both religion, and civic affairs, in behalf of temperance, anti-slavery and woman 
suffrage. A prolific writer, he was one of the most able popularizers of New England 
Transcendentalism in the third quarter of the 19th century.

During Clarke's few years in Louisville the congregation had gradually grown to include 
outstanding intellectual, social, and business figures of the city. This growth continued 
for almost half a century under the leadership of Clarke's successor, John Healy Heywood 
(1818-1902), pastor from 1840 to 1880. Also a native New Englander and graduate of 
Harvard Divinity School, Heywood soon became one of the leading citizens of Louisville. 
He too not only furthered the work of the church itself, "but was active in promoting 
educational and literary interests, serving upon the Board of Education, and being for

(continued)
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fourteen years its president." (History of the Ohio Falls Counties, I, 346.) In this 
position, Heywood is credited with having put into operation the first city high schools, 
and with having been the leading advocate of schools for women and blacks. He also 
established the first "night schools" in the city as well as the first mission Sunday 
schools.

During the Civil War Heywood served with the Kentucky branch of the U.S. Sanitary 
Commission. The Commission, sometimes known as "Lincoln's Fifth Wheel," was 
a forerunner of the Red Cross, providing hospital and canteen services for the sol­ 
diers on the front by means of voluntary contributions by civilians. A highly organ­ 
ized and successful effort, the Sanitary Commission was founded by the Reverend 
Henry W. Bellows (1814-1882), prominent Unitarian minister of New York, and 
Frederick Law Olmsted, later to become the great landscape architect and developer 
of municipal park systems (including Louisville's).

In Louisville, Heywood, a staunch Unionist, became president of a Refugee Commission 
devoted largely to the care of refugees from the South. According to B.B. Huntoon, 
long a member of the congregation and himself director of the Kentucky School for the 
Blind, Heywood organized the work of the Commission, established Its detention camps 
and hospitals, found homes for the thousands of homeless refugees who were burdening 
the city, and gathered funds that made these achievements possible. Heywood was also 
instrumental in forming the Old Ladies' Home and was for two years an editorial writer 
for The Louisville Examiner.

It was under Heywood that the present church building was erected. In 1853 the first 
church had been enlarged, but still proved inadequate. In 1868 the Universalist Society 
(a group ideologically related to, but not identical with, the Unitarian Society) proposed 
that the two societies should unite in the erection of a new church, toward which they 
would contribute $15,000. After some discussion, this proposal was accepted and in 
June 1869 the two bodies were united under the common name of "The Church of the 
Messiah/'

Work on the new church at Fourth and York Streets was promptly begun and the edifice 
was completed in December 1870 at a total cost of about $75,000, including $11,000 
for the valuable land. In January 1871 the church was dedicated.

(continued)
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Early in the morning of Sunday, December 31, 1871, the new church building caught 
fire, destroying the entire interior and severely damaging the walls. Services never­ 
theless were held in the uninjured Sunday school building that day, and a campaign to 
rebuild was immediately undertaken. The church was reconstructed during 1872 and 
rededicated on December 15, the pastor being assisted by the Reverend H. W. Bellows   
a contemporary of Heywood's and no doubt an associate from his work on the Sanitary 
Commission.

Heywood was succeeded by the Reverend C. J.K. Jones of Brooklyn, New York, who was 
pastor from 1880 to 1898. His ministry was highlighted by a series of musical evenings 
that drew not only members of the congregation but also a wide spectrum of listeners 
from outside the church. Jones was also an enthusiastic advocate of the still contro­ 
versial theory of evolution and other advanced scientific issues.

This unique combination of religious and secular, charitable and artistic, intellectual 
and social interest and activities has continued at the church through the years. Promi­ 
nent members of the congregation have included members of the Speed family (close 
friends of both Thomas Jefferson and Abraham Lincoln, active in business, politics, 
and the arts); Joseph L. Danforth, successful businessman and member of the Board 
of Education; Miss Caroline Leib and Miss Margaret Merker, both social workers and 
activists; Charles Hermany, engineer for the Louisville Water Company and many other 
public works; Madison Cawein, once-famous poet; Victor Engelhardt, leader in the field 
of education; andB.B. Huntoon, mentioned above.

In the 20th-century there have been a number of ministers who have maintained the 
church!s commitment to its downtown location. In 1924 the official name reverted to 
the original, The First Unitarian Church. In 1970, in celebration of the centennial of 
the building, the church was adapted to modern needs with minimal alteration of the 
original fabric. This sympathetic renovation symbolizes the congregation's commit­ 
ment both to its traditional downtown location and to its continuing exploration of new 
ways to serve the community as a whole.
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